4/5

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. 94,433

VAY 1 2 2000 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

VS.

MICHAEL DEAN RAY,

Respondent.

P

D

.

۱

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF MICHAEL DEAN RAY

ON REVIEW OF REPORT OF REFEREE

LAW OFFICE OF NEIL D. KOLNER By: NEIL D. KOLNER, ESQ. Liberty Building 124 South Miami Avenue Miami, Florida 33130-1605 (305) 377-9000 Fax: (305) 377-9100

Counsel for Michael Dean Ray

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the Referee should have granted summary judgment to Respondent?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar alleged that in three letters to the Chief Immigration Judge Michael Dean Ray made six statements he either knew to be false or stated with reckless disregard to the truth or falsity concerning the qualifications or integrity of a subordinate immigration judge. The Florida Bar's seven paragraph Complaint of Minor Misconduct concluded that Michael Ray's **83** words violated Rule  $4.8-2(a).^{1}$ 

Rule 4-8.2(a) provides: "A lawyer shall not make a statement that the lawyer knows to be false or with reckless disregard as to its truth or falsity concerning the qualifications or integrity of a judge, mediator, arbitrator, adjudicatory officer, public legal officer, juror or member of the venire, or candidate for election or appointment to judicial or legal office."(emphasis added).

Michael Ray admitted when reporting misconduct of an immigration judge he had made the statements in his letters to the Chief Immigration Judge, but denied that he knew the statements to be false or that he stated them with reckless disregard for the truth or falsity. Ray's letters complained that contrary to law in Haitian political asylum cases Immigration Judge Philip J. Montante, Jr. neither considered background evidence on country conditions in Haiti, nor recused himself when Ray's clients filed motions detailing their fears that the judge would not be fair.

<sup>1</sup> R. Regulating Fla. Bar.

1

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### Background

Following the **1991** coup d'état of Haiti's first democratically elected president in nearly two centuries, the explosive political climate caused thousands of **Haitians** to flee their homeland and seek asylum in the United States. Ultimately, after perhaps the worst violence and most egregious human rights abuses in years, United Nations peacekeeping troops intervened in Haiti. At that time, the United States Department of State reported to Congress about Haiti's human rights situation:

Haiti underwent profound changes in **1994.** An illegal military regime, which had assumed power after ousting President Jean-Bertrand Aristide in a **1991** coup, retained firm control of the military. During this time, the level of human rights abuses escalated. . . . The human rights abuses during these 9 months of the de facto regime included political and extrajudicial killings by the security forces and their allies; disappearances; and politically motivated rapes, beatings and other mistreatment of citizens, both in and out of prisons.

. . . In the 5-month period . . . the ICM [United] Nations/Organization of American States International Civilian Mission recorded 340 cases of extrajudicial killings and suspicious deaths. . . . 131 cases of disappearances or "seizures" from January through June. The de facto authorities tolerated and condoned . . widespread physical abuse of detainees creating a climate of impunity which resulted in some particularly vicious activities. . . . soldiers and other armed persons frequently entered private homes for illegal purposes . In addition, gangsters violently raided entire . . neighborhoods of Port-au-Prince taking advantage of their ties to police and the general climate of impunity to steal and rape. . . . One estimate by human rights organizations places the number of internally displaced Haitians in 1994 at 300,000.

Country Reports on Human Rights Practices for 1994, U.S. Department of State, 104<sup>th</sup> Cong., 1<sup>st</sup> Sess., at 420-430 (Jt. Comm. Print 1995) (emphasis added). See: APPENDIX A-1 Respondent Michael Dean Ray was admitted to practice law in Florida in 1978; he never has been disciplined by The Florida Bar nor any Court. Since May, 1999, he serves as the elected president of the 400-member South Florida Chapter of the American Immigration Lawyers Association ("AILA"); and for the preceding five or six years served as liaison between his AILA Chapter and the Immigration Courts in Miami. For five years Mr. Ray served as Southern Regional Vice-President of the National Lawyers Guild and co-chair of their National Law Student Asylum Project for the past six years. **TR2-67-68** 

In his immigration practice Michael Ray has represented many Haitian asylum-seekers who fled bloody violence only to face deportation by the United States Immigration and Naturalization Service. On a pro bono basis to bolster his Haitian clients' asylum claims, Michael Ray requested names of interviewed Haitians the United States State Department reported had not been mistreated after they were "repatriated" to Haiti. Under the Freedom of Information Act both the United States district and Eleventh Circuit courts ordered the State Department to release those names to Michael Ray. The Supreme Court of the United States rejected the State Department's national security claim, but ruled the names need not be disclosed since the State Department already reported that the Haitians were not mistreated. **TR3-232-234**<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ray V. United States Department of Justice, 725 F.Supp. 502 (S.D. Fla 1989), aff'd, 908 F.2d 1549 (11'" Cir. 1990) rev'd in part sub nom. Dep't of State v. Ray, 502 U.S. 164, 112 S.Ct. 541 (1991). Michael Ray was even required to pay the State Department's printing costs of \$2,900. TR3-234

People who arrive in the United States without proper documentation are brought before the U.S. Department of Justice Executive Office for Immigration Review ("EOIR"). In these proceedings called Immigration Court, U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service ("INS") attorneys pursue deportation or exclusion of these people before officers of the EOIR, now called immigration judges."

### Immigration Judges and the Chief Immigration Judge

United States immigration judges are neither confirmed by the Senate, nor elected, and thus, they are not within the jurisdiction of the Judicial Qualifications Commission. They are selected by and serve at the pleasure of the Attorney General of the United States.<sup>4</sup> The Code of Federal Regulations mandates: "The Chief Immigration Judge shall be responsible for the general supervision, direction, and scheduling of the Immigration Judges. . .[and] evaluation of the performance of Immigration Courts, making appropriate reports and inspections, and taking corrective action where indicated." 8 C.F.R. § 3.9 (emphasis added). This is how to complain about Immigration Judges. TR2-58

In Immigration Court, individuals have the right to seek relief from deportation or exclusion, including asylum in the United States, 8 C.F.R. § 208.1 et seq..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Immigration judges were "special inquiry officers" not "judges" until Congress passed the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, Pub.L. No.104-208, § 371(a). See: 110 Stat. 3009, 645-646 (8 U.S.C. 1101(b)(4)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Id. ("The term 'immigration judge' means <u>an attornev whom</u> <u>the Attornev General appoints as an administrative iudse within</u> <u>the Executive Office of Immigration Review....</u>") (emphasis added).

Philip J. Montante, Jr. is an immigration judge who from April, 1990 through July of 1997 presided in Miami, Florida, and has transferred to Buffalo, New York. **TR1-34** Judge Montante refused to grant asylum to all Michael Ray's black Haitian clients whose cases he decided even though all "had a strong claim like relatives being killed or their houses being burned down because of their political activities". **TR2-134,140** Judge Montante always rejected their attempts to introduce evidence in support of their claims on the human rights conditions in Haiti, like the United States Department of State *Country Reports on Human Rights Practices* quoted above. **TR2-73,140** 

Controlling law compels "The evaluation of [an asylumseeker's] application requires consideration of all presently available background evidence on conditions in Haiti, since the implications of future deportation must be weighted." Molaire v. Smith," 743 F.Supp. 839, 850 (S.D. Fla. 1990) (emphasis added). TR2-76,78,79,141 Indeed, Judge Montante did not admit any of the 275 pages of documents offered to support the asylum claim of Ray's client Sergo Vilce. TR2-73 Judge Montante ruled that the "evidence is remote in time" even though federal regulations provide that when a past "pattern and practice" of persecution is shown, then an asylum applicant need not show he would be singled out for future persecution. See: 8 C.F.R. 208.13(2) (i) **TR2-79,80** Judge Montante did not "allow declarations into evidence... because he said they weren't sworn to" and when it was pointed out that a Federal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ray asked the Referee to take judicial notice pursuant to § 90.201, and 90.202(2) Fla. Stat.. **TR2-82** 

Statute allows declarations to be used in place of affidavits [28 U.S.C. § 1746, APPENDIX A-21 Judge Montante would say "thank you for that information but I'm keeping it out anyway". TR2-80 There are 20 to 30 other lawyers in Miami who represent Haitians who had similar problems with Judge Montante. TR2-137; TR3-269,289

### The beginning of the troubles

On April 15, 1994, The *Daily* Business *Review* published an article, **"Immigration judge, lawyer in ongoing, ugly feud; For more than three years, hostility in and out of court" about a defamation lawsuit against Judge Montante by distinguished immigration lawyer and nationally known lecturer, author, and immigrants' rights advocate, Ira Kurzban, Esq..<sup>6</sup> EX.A APPENDIX A-3** 

That April 15, 1994, *Daily Business Review* story stated: "Intimations by the other side that Montante, 48, is prejudiced against Haitians are 'complete and absolute nonsense,' [Montante's lawyer John] McCluskey said. His client, he added, has granted asylum to numerous Haitians." **EX.A APPENDIX** A-3

The *Daily Business Review* article quoted Michael Ray: "Judge Montante does not consider evidence in asylum cases that he's required to consider" and the article also stated that "Montante,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Mr. Kurzban was the first recipient of the Tobias Simon Pro Bono Award given by the Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court; he litigated some 50-60 cases in the Federal and Supreme Court Reporters, argued three cases in the Supreme Court of the United States, authored Kurzban's Immigration Law Sourcebook: A comprehensive Outline and Reference Tool, (6<sup>th</sup> ed. American Immigration Law Foundation 1998); taught at University of Miami School of Law and Nova Southeastern Law School for 16 years, lectured at the Harvard and Yale Law Schools, and the United States Court of Appeals Second Circuit Conference. **TR2-15-18** 

through his attorney's office called Kolner and Ray 'chronic troublemakers' who are 'part of Kurzban's group."' EX.A., A9.

Michael Ray deemed the "chronic troublemakers" declaration false and defamatory, so four days later, Ray wrote letters to Judge Montante and lawyer John McCluskey demanding retraction of the "false, defamatory and damaging" statements..' **TR2-96-97 EX.C.** Neither Judge Montante nor his lawyer retracted the statement which Ray deemed defamatory; and neither retracted nor corrected the assertion that Judge Montante had granted asylum to numerous Haitians. **TR2-85,86,97,100 EX.A-2 for ID** 

Rather than retracting the statement that Ray was a "chronic troublemaker[]", attributed to Montante's lawyer, John McCluskey wrote Ray a "threatening letter" on Judge Montante's behalf on April 27, 1994 warning Ray that to state that Judge Montante does not consider evidence in asylum cases was governed by the Rules of Professional Conduct and otherwise actionable. **TR2-97,100**<sup>8</sup>

## How many Haitians did Montante grant asylum? "Numerous" equals one!

On behalf of one of his black Haitian clients' for whom Judge

<sup>9</sup> The Daily Business Review reported about her case: "Last month Montante waited only seven minutes before deporting one of [Law Office of Michael D. Ray's] Haitian clients in absentia. The client arrived three minutes after being deported, barely after the judge stepped from the bench. Though Montante had three hours blocked out for the hearing, he refused [her lawyer's] appeals to return to court." **EX.A at A-9 APPENDIX A-3** 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pursuant to 770.01 Fla.Stat.(1993) See: APPENDIX A-4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Referee admitted this letter, **TR2-99**, then disallowed it. **TR2-102; EX.A-2 for I.D.** Ray proffered the letter as proof that either Ray's statement about Judge Montante was true - as Ray maintains - or that the McCluskey letter is part of a pattern of deceit about which Ray complained to Chief Judge Creppy **TR2-101-102** 

Montante refused to grant asylum, Michael Ray filed a Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") request with the Immigration Court (EOIR) to learn how many Haitians Judge Montante had granted asylum. After the EOIR refused to disclose the number, and after a year of litigation, U.S. District Judge Wilkie D. Ferguson, Jr. ordered EOIR to provide Ray the information. The truth is that when the Daily Business Review published that Judge Montante had granted "numerous" Haitians asylum, he had granted only one! TR2-105<sup>10</sup> The Review wrote a follow-up article, "Immigration lawyers get evidence against judge". **EX.1, at 2** 

#### Haitian clients seek Judge Montante's recusal - motions denied

Accordingly, Michael Ray's Haitian clients whose cases fell before Judge Montante continued to file motions for recusal, based in part on the **false** statement attributed to Judge Montante's lawyer about Montante's asylum record and the non-retracted statements Ray considered false and defamatory. In recusalmotions Haitians also alleged fears that they, too, may not receive a fair hearing before Judge Montante **TR2-96** because he would not consider required background evidence in asylum cases. **TR2-78** Judge Montante denied all recusal motions filed by Ray's Haitian clients<sup>11</sup> **TR2-106** never addressing the contents of the April 15, 1994 Daily Business Review article, the FOIA request, or the lawsuit required to obtain the truth about Judge Montante's Haitian asylum record. **TR2-86,TR2-107** Instead, Judge Montante's orders denying recusal contained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The court ordered EOIR to pay costs and attorney fees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> He once recused, sua sponte, without explanation. **TR1-67** 

attacks on Respondent's character. **EX.H** at  $3-9^{12}$ 

## Ray's February 23, 1996 letter concerned due process denials

Michael Ray wrote a ten-page letter to Chief Immigration Judge Michael Creppy, *inter alia*, to complain about Judge Montante's denial of fair hearings to his Haitian clients, so his "clients wouldn't be sent back to die and that's what was going on in Haiti." TR2-80 EX.1

Respondent's February 23, 1996 letter also complained about other problems, apart from Judge Montante.<sup>13</sup> Specifically, Ray requested that Chief Judge Creppy ensure that four Miami Judges Ray

<sup>13</sup> Respondent's February 23, 1996 letter was styled "Re: Retaliation by the Miami Immigration Court must stop". There is no dispute that Michael Ray's February 23, 1996 letter included the following **language**, as The Florida Bar's Complaint of Minor Misconduct ("TFB Complaint") alleges:

The Review bannered this exposé of Judge Montante's cowardly deceit and defamation with the headline, "Immigration lawyers get evidence against judge", (Bartalk column) and reported: "In an ongoing feud between Miami immigration lawyers and immigration judge Philip J. Montante, score one for the lawyers. TFB Complaint, ¶ 3(a), EX.1, at 2;

The Daily Business *Review* headlined another story about Judge *Montante's* shameless **lies** to conceal what certainly appeared to be his hardhearted, unethical and immoral bias on the bench in an article entitled, "Magistrate says Justice should pay; Feds resisted efforts to release court data". TFB Complaint, ¶ 3(b), **EX.1**, at 3;

Does Judge Montante expand his concealment of evidence with cunning and guile and tampering with the official record? TFB Complaint, ¶ 3(c), EX.1, at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For example, one order contained the **false** statement that Ray "referred to the President of the United States, Bill Clinton, and the Attorney General, Janet Reno, as racists". **EX.H at** 4 Another order stated **falsely** that Ray failed to file a written motion that Judge Montante had given him 30 days to file; in fact, Ray had filed the motion. **TR3-208-211** 

wrote about stopped retaliating against Ray, and that the judges:

1. give a fair hearing by not constantly turning off the tape recorder;

2. allow attorneys to state objections for the record and permit them to make appropriate motions as constitutional due process requires;

3. stop misconstruing [Ray's] legal arguments against their rulings or conduct as an attack upon their integrity; and

4. stop the resulting retaliation. EX.1, at 9

As a direct result of the February 23, 1996 letter, Chief Judge Creppy wrote at least three letters to Respondent **EX.F** and sent his legal counsel, William Joyce, and Assistant Chief Judge Brian O'Leary to Miami to meet with Ray and the Miami liaison Judge to discuss the problems outlined in Ray's February 23, 1996 letter. **TR2-97 EX.F** At this April 10, 1996 meeting, Chief Judge Creppy wrote there was a "healthy exchange of views on both sides". **EX.F** 

This meeting spawned by Ray's February 23, 1996 letter resolved three of Ray's four major complaints set forth in his February 23, 1996 letter.<sup>14</sup> One specific issue raised in that April 10, 1996 meeting concerned Ray's Haitian client's motion to recuse Judge Montante pending for one and one-half years without decision. Ray's letter questioned whether Judge Montante "expand[ed] his concealment of evidence with. . . tampering with the official record?", because at Judge Montante's direction, all were barred from viewing that court file kept in his chambers, even counsel of record Michael Ray. **TR2-109** Just two days after that April 10, 1996 meeting, Judge Montante denied the motion for recusal which had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> This proffered testimony of Ray's mental state when he wrote later letters to Judge Creppy was objected to; the Referee sustained, finding it "marginal, marginal evidence." **TR2-152** 

been pending since October 13, 1994. EX.D

Ray believed Judge Montante had once **again** published false and defamatory statements about him in the judge's June 26, 1996 Order denying a renewed motion for recusal in that same case, and he therefore demanded a retraction. **EX.E** The Order contained the following statements which Ray considered false and defamatory:

The Court also takes judicial and/or administrative notice of the fact that the <u>United States</u> <u>Chief</u> <u>Immigration</u> <u>Judge</u> has reprimanded and/or admonished counsel in writing because of ongoing unprofessional conduct in the Courtrooms of a number of Judges in the United States Immigration Court in Miami, Florida. **EX.E** 

Judge Montante did not retract the statement Respondent alleged was false and defamatory. **TR2-117** Michael Ray even filed a FOIA request with the EOIR to prove this statement by Judge Montante was not true; the response established that the statement was false: no complaints were filed against Michael Ray with the

EOIR. **TR3-170-174** 

#### Nigerian hires Ray for deportation/asylum case with Judge Montante

A black Nigerian man hired Ray to defend him in his deportation hearing the night before he was scheduled to appear with Judge Montante. EX.G, [8 At that "Master Calendar" hearing, Mr. Ray orally asked Judge Montante to recuse himself. Judge Montante refused and told Ray an oral motion to recuse was "not timely filed and that motion should have been filed 14 days prior to the time of the hearing today". EX.4, at 2 Nevertheless, Judge Montante gave the INS attorney a chance to respond to the oral motion to recuse. EX.4 at 3 In fact, oral motions are allowed in Immigration Court pursuant to Title 8 C.F.R. § 3.23(a). EX.H, at 1

11

Michael Ray explained to the judge that a recusal motion must be ruled on before the judge does anything else. EX.4, **at** 3, **TR3-243** Judge Montante told Ray he should have moved for a continuance. However, Ray said he did not "believe the law supports such a position". **EX.4, at 3**

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