ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL
JUL 2 6 2000
CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case No. SC94433

Complainant,

v.

MICHAEL DEAN RAY,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR AND RESPONSE TO AMICI CURIAE

> RAND1 KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel/TFB #360920 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel/TFB #253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5775

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director/TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5775

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The instant matter concerns the respondent's acts of making false statements in letters to the chief immigration judge concerning a sitting immigration judge. The statements charged by the Bar and found by the referee to be false concern the respondent's belief that a representation concerning the judges' record made by another individual should have been corrected by the judge. As a result the respondent stated that the judge was "cowardly, a liar, deceitful and possessed craven mendacity." The second category of false statements concerned the respondent's accusation that the judge had tampered with the Miami immigration computer since the respondent believed the judge had the file in chambers and it took too long to set a hearing. The last category of false statements concerned the respondent's description of the judges conduct as akin to Nazi justice, lynchings, judicial railroads, kangaroo courts, inquisitions, Salem witch trials and star chambers, during a particular hearing. A tape recording of that hearing was played at the final hearing of this matter and revealed that the respondent was unprepared and belligerent and that his client's due process rights were protected by the judge, despite the respondent's antics. The three categories of statements were proven to be false on their face.

The respondent in his brief attempts to paint himself as a hero who set out to expose the hypocrisy and wrongful conduct of the judge. He urges this court to

allow the First Amendment and law concerning defamation to shield him. It is the position of The Florida Bar that the Florida Supreme Court has spoken on this issue and will not countenance lawyers making false accusations against the judiciary for the sake of personal aggrandizement.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I

WHETHER THE REFEREE CORRECTLY
DENIED RAY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT FAILED TO
REVEAL THE ABSENCE OF ANY
GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT

II

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE (RESTATED)

Ш

WHETHER THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT MICHAEL DEAN RAY VIOLATED RULE 4-8.2(a) OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR (RESTATED)

IV

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S IMPOSITION OF A PUBLIC REPRIMAND WAS CORRECT (RESTATED)

 \mathbf{V}

RESPONSE TO AMICI CURIAE

ARGUMENT

I

THE REFEREE CORRECTLY DENIED RAY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT FAILED TO REVEAL THE ABSENCE OF ANY GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Deauville Operating Corp. v. Town and Beach Plumbing Co., 123 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960) It is applicable where all parties are in agreement concerning the material and critical issues of fact. Keller v. Penovich, 262 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972) Although Florida's Rules of Civil Procedure permit the filing of an affidavit with the motion for summary judgment, it is not mandated. Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1.5 1 O(a). Nevertheless, the burden is on the moving party to **Rhow** that dherevis no glanuiene assume df material fact.6 S o . 2 d 8 6 6 (Fla 4th DCA 1969); Remington v. L.P. Gunson and Co., 125 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1961). Such showing may be made by the offer of sworn testimony. Goswick v. Mittleman, 177 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1965). In the case sub judice the respondent filed his motion without any affidavit or offer of testimony and contended that no factual dispute existed. In response, The Florida Bar filed its

response in opposition together with the affidavit of the Honorable Philip Montante. Judge Montante denied that he was cowardly, deceitful, a liar and conducted his courtroom in the manner attributed in Mr. Ray's November 14, 1996 letter. The affidavit was filed despite the fact that the non moving party is not required to file counter affidavits to defeat summary judgment. The National Exhibition Company v. Ball, 139 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1962)

As a result the referee correctly found the existence of material disputed facts. The finding is further supported by the referee's ultimate finding of guilt against the respondent.

ARGUMENT

II

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE (RESTATED)

It is well established that a referee's findings of fact in an attorney disciplinary case are presumed correct and will be upheld on appeal unless clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Winderman, 6 14 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1993). The respondent has been unable to establish that such has occurred in the case at hand.

The respondent begins his argument by attacking the findings of fact as "a verbatim repetition of the complaint of The Florida Bar". He further states that the report of referee is deficient since it does not discuss testimony, evidence or the record. Rule 3-7.6(k) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar sets forth the required contents of the report. The report shall include findings of fact, recommendations of guilt, recommendations as to discipline, a statement of prior discipline and a statement of costs. The instant referee report met all requirements and more. In addition to the report, at the final hearing the referee orally made findings and gave explanations for said findings encompassing, three and one half (3-1/2) pages of transcript. The respondent's suggestion of a "rubber stamp"

process is belied by the referee's oral transmittal of his thought processes. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Cramer</u>, 678 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 1996) this court held that the referee did not improperly adopt the Bar's proposed findings which were based on oral findings by the referee. There the referee like the referee in this matter directed that Bar counsel prepare the findings. (TR3-385)

The crux of the respondent's argument is that the referee failed to find in his favor based on the respondent's version of events. The simple set of facts charged by The Florida Bar has been muddied by the respondent. The Bar will simplify them. In two of the three letters written by the respondent he stated that Judge Montante was deceitful, a cowardly liar and exhibited craven mendacity since the judge did not proactively correct a statement purportedly made to the press by another individual. It is undisputed that the statement which bothered Mr. Ray concerning whether Judge Montante had granted asylum to numerous Haitians was made by someone other than the judge. As the referee so aptly stated:

"I don't know how you could possibly call someone a liar for a statement they never made."

(TR3-382)

The answer is Michael Dean Ray could, and did, despite knowing and admitting that the judge had never made the statement. The accusation by Michael Dean Ray was false on its face. The referee correctly found based on the

competent testimony of both Michael Dean Ray and Judge Montante that Mr.

Ray's statements calling the judge a liar were false.

Michael Dean Ray was most certainly aware of the recklessness and falsity of his statement when he wrote yet a second letter on August 19, 1997 to Judge Creppy making the same allegations. At that point in time Judge Creppy had written Mr. Ray thrice telling him that he found <u>no misconduct</u> on the part of any immigration judge. (TR3-276-278)¹

The second matter concerned Mr. Ray's accusation that the judge had tampered with the Miami EIOR computer. There was absolutely no testimony to support this horrific allegation. Rather, Mr. Ray testified that a file had been in the judge's chambers for an excessive period of time and since the matter did not appear in the computer the judge "must have" been the culprit. (TR2-109;TR3-170) This outrageous contention was not supported by the respondent or his sole witness. On the contrary, Judge Montante denied the allegation and testified that the extent of his acumen with the computer system was the use of the e-mail feature. (TR1-37,81) Thus, based on the competent, substantial evidence presented the referee found Mr. Ray's statement to be false or made with reckless

¹ The respondent complained about the conduct of several other immigration judges, in addition to Judge Montante.

disregard for the truth or falsity.

Last, a hearing was held before Judge Montante in the matter of Paul Ajuwa. The original taped proceeding was admitted into evidence and heard by the referee. (TR1-39) Mr. Ray's appearance before Judge Montante unfolded as the manifestation of every judge's worst nightmare. Mr. Ray represented a Nigerian individual. Mr. Ray appeared in court without a written motion to continue or motion to recuse but with a hybrid document, entitled a Notice of Filing Exhibits. At the outset the respondent sought to orally recuse the judge. Mr. Ray demanded that his unwritten motion to recuse be heard and failed to move for a continuance. The judge futilely attempted to reason with Mr. Ray in an effort to move forward with the proceedings. Mr. Ray refused and argued. Thereafter, the judge requested that Mr. Ray leave the courtroom. He refused. Guards were called. In Mr. Ray's absence his client was given a six (6) month continuance and advised to seek new counsel. Two (2) weeks after the hearing the respondent wrote his November 14, 1996 letter with the following:

Montante's trial conduct toward Kolner and me (and who knows how many other attorneys afraid to speak up?) is just one more discouraging example of j udicial railroads, kangaroo courts, lynchings, inquisitions, Salem Witch Trials, Star Chambers, and Nazi Justice rearing their heads like a plague in humankind's struggle upward through history. (page 1)

The referee found that the respondent intended those statements to refer to the November 1, 1996 hearing. (TR3-383) In fact, Mr. Ray testified that the letter was written on behalf of his client Paul Ajuwa. (TR3-372) Curiously, Mr. Ray stated that although he was the drafter of the letter, in his individual capacity and on behalf of his client that the letter was in actuality written on behalf of the four hundred (400) member local chapter of The American Immigration Lawyer's (TR3-270) Yet none of those individuals signed the letter. Even Association. more curious is Mr. Ray's attempt to argue that his onerous attributions concerned all of his dealings with Judge Montante. That statement is quite strange in light of Mr. Ray's testimony that he had appeared either two (2), three (3), four (4) or five (5) times before Judge Montante and in the first appearance the judge had granted asylum to his client, a Tiananmen Square protester. (TR2-7 1) Giving the respondent the benefit of the doubt, his appearances before Judge Montante totaled five (5). One concerned Paul Ajuwa, one concerned a granting of asylum and three concerned other clients. There was not specific testimony as to the disposition of those cases, Thus, oddly enough the respondent's pervasive vilification of Judge Montante resulted from these minute dealings.

Judge Montante's testimony and the tape of the hearing competently established that his courtroom on November 1, 1996 in the case of Paul Ajuwa was

not conducted as described by Mr. Ray. Mr. Ray's attested to description of the proceeding, as lacking due process and replete with foregone conclusions without any regard to the rule of law is not borne out by the record. Rather, it was Mr. Ray who arrived in court unprepared, having failed to file either written motions to recuse or continue and argued to the court to the degree that armed guards were called. All of the foregoing grand standing was at the potential sacrifice of his client. Yet despite Mr. Ray's conduct the judge spoke gently and soothingly to Mr. Ray's client, took no adverse action and continued the matter to several months in the future.

Mr. Ray's testimony as to his perception of Nazi Germany or justice, a description which he attributed to Judge Montante's trial conduct on November 1, 1996 is stunning, as evidenced by the following:

BY MS. LAZARUS:

- Q. Do you know for a fact whether or not any of the people that were sent to gas chambers had an opportunity to retain counsel?
- A. Not that I'm aware of.
- Q. Are you aware of whether or not people that were sent to gas chambers in Nazi Germany had an opportunity to have lawyers let's say file something called a Notice of Filing Exhibits on their behalf?
- A. They may have. I don't know, but I doubt it.

- Q. You think they may have?
- A. Some of them may have.
- Q. May have had an opportunity to have lawyers file Notice of Filing Exhibits before they were sent to has chambers?

MR. KOLNER: Your Honor, I think the Bar counsel had made her point. I would object.

THE REFEREE: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: As I said, some of them may have, although I doubt it, I don't know -- excuse me -- I don't know for a fact. That's why I'm saying they may have.

BY MS. LAZARUS:

- Q. Well, I'm real curious as to the ones that you think may have. What judicial forum was it that those people may have appeared before?
- A. I don't know. I'm trying to answer your question as honestly as I can, and if 1 don't know for a fact, I can't tell you something that I don't know.
- Q. But you just made the statement before this Referee that those people may have had an opportunity to file a Notice of Filing Exhibits just like Mr. Ajuwa did?

MR. KOLNER: Your Honor, I'm going to object. This is now argumentative.

THE REFEREE: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: All I can do is -- I don't know how else to answer it other than to repeat what --

BY MS. LAZARUS:

Q. Mr. Ray, you made the statement about Nazi justice, so you would know --

MR. KOLNER: This is several times where the witness is attempting to answer the question, and Bar counsel interrupts, and I would object to that procedure, and I would ask that she be instructed not to do that.

THE REFEREE: Finish answering.

THE WITNESS: As I stated, I doubt that they had such procedures available, although I wasn't there in each case, and it is possible that some of them may, so to answer truthfully, I have to answer that way.

THE WITNESS: I can't give you examples and dates and times because I don't know them, but I think -- if I may finish --

O- Go ahead.

A. I think that my answer explains to you what I'm saying and why.

Q. I just need to ask you again where you get the notion that there was anyone that had an opportunity to have a lawyer to file something on their behalf before they were herded to gas chambers or they were sent to gas camps?

A. I don't have such a notion.

MR. KOLNER: Objection, your Honor, I don't think we're talking about herding people to gas chambers or sending them to death camps.

MS. LAZARUS: Oh, yes, we are.

THE REFEREE: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: I really don't have that notion. As I stated it's possible that some of them may have, and therefore, 1 have to answer that way because I've sworn to tell the truth, and I don't know how else, you know, to explain that.

(TR3-257-260)

The referee concluded that Mr. Ray had no basis in fact to accuse Judge Montante of being a Nazi, among other things. The referee found that the statements were false. He stated:

I have read the transcript and I have listened to the tape, and there was nothing -- nothing -- that transpired in that hearing that would justify such outrageously false accusations, And I am just utterly appalled that this kind of language would be used against anybody on evidence that barely even qualifies as sketchy.

(TR3-384)

Mr. Ray argues that the referee improperly excluded proffered testimony and evidence. Mr. Ray repeatedly sought to introduce irrelevant evidence, Many of these introductions concerned political situations in Haiti and the respondent's attempts to offer this information to Judge Montante. The referee properly excluded all irrelevant evidence as it had no bearing on the statements charged by the Bar. The charged language concerned a statement to the press, tampering with the court computer and a November 1, 1996 hearing concerning a Nigerian individual. There is no nexus between the charged statements and the evidence and

testimony proffered and properly excluded. Only relevant evidence is admissible. Further, a referee in a Bar discipline case can consider any evidence he or she deems relevant to resolving a factual question. <u>The Florida Bar v. Clement</u>, 662 So. 2d 690 (Fla. 1995); <u>The Florida Bar v. Rood</u>, 620 So. 2d 1252 (Fla. 1993).

ARGUMENT

Ш

THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND THAT MICHAEL DEAN RAY VIOLATED RULE 4-8.2(a) OF THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR (RESTATED)

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